STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPELLATE CASE No. 2014-000653

PETITIONER'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN

SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RECEIVED

FEB 09 2015

S.C. SUPREME COURT

XAVIER L. DERRY

Petitioner

h.c.i. - Richland - C#123

990 Wisacky Hwy.

Bishopville, S.C. 29010

STATE OF South Carolina

RECEIVED

FEB 12 2011

S.C. SUPREME COURT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Petitioner adopts the procedural history stated within the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

ISSUE BEING PRESENTED

In the Petition for Writ of Certiorari submitted to this court by Petitioner's original Appellate Counsel, Carmen Granjehsani, the issue presented was:

"Whether the PCR court erred in failing to find that a conflict of interest existed when plea counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant during guilty pleas which arose out of related offenses?"

Appellate Counsel presented the issue of the conflict of interest as the conflict only "existed when plea counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant during guilty pleas..." However, the Petitioner's argument of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel / Conflict of Interest was argued in Petitioner's Application for PCR and at the PCR Evidentiary Hearing as the conflict existing where counsel simultaneously represented Petitioner and his co-defendant during pretrial phases and guilty plea; and not solely during guilty plea as the issue is presented by Appellate Counsel in Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Thus, Petitioner amends the issue presented in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and also raises the claim of a violation of the Confrontation Clause; presenting it to this Honorable Court as follows:

(1.) Whether the PCR Court erred in failing to find that a conflict of interest existed when plea counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant during pretrial stages and guilty pleas that arose out of related offenses.

(2.) Whether or not there was a violation of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment where counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant who was a witness in Petitioner's case.

ARGUMENT ONE

In the PCR Court's order of Dismissal the PCR Court relied on the case of Langford v State, 310 S.C. 257; 426 S.E.2d 793 (1993) which held that there mere possibility of a conflict of interest is insufficient to challenge a criminal conviction. However, the facts of the Petitioner's case demonstrate an actual conflict and not the mere possibility of a conflict.

In the case of Langford, Langford and his co-defendant had the same alibi defense which was interdependent of one another and thus eliminating the conflict. While in Petitioner's case, Petitioner's co-defendant (MR. Anderson) actually gave implicating statements in regards to their related charges and actively cooperated with law enforcement in their investigation. MR. Anderson also gave implicating statements about Petitioner allegedly committing an armed robbery in which he himself had no involvement with. (see Attachment Two; Investigative Report). Therefore, the position of the Petitioner and MR. Anderson were obviously not interdependent; distinguishing Petitioner's case from that of Langford.

ARGUMENT TWO

The PCR court held that (1.) the Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof as to the allegation that counsel operated under a conflict of interest and (2.) that NO evidence or testimony was presented to support the claim of a conflict of interest or that would indicate that counsel's performance was adversely affected by a conflict of interest. However, the facts of RECORD and the testimony of Petitioner and plea counsel (MR. Cheek) at PCR hearing are contrary to the PCR court's findings.

An actual conflict of interest occurs:

... when a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties.... If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client. Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 438; 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) (quoting Zuck v. State of Alabama, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5th Cir. 1979).

The fact that Petitioner's co-defendant (MR. ANDERSON) implicated Petitioner in his statements and active cooperation with investigation made their positions inherently adversarial. Petitioner asserted to investigating law enforcement that, "it was not him.", when quest-

ioned in reference to the armed robberies in which Petitioner was later charged with. Subsequently, Mr. Anderson told investigators that he had driven Petitioner to scene of crime, which is what caused Petitioner and Mr. Anderson to be arrested.

The Petitioner told law enforcement that he had not committed the robberies in which he was being questioned about, but then Mr. Anderson implicated Petitioner. At this point the Petitioner's interests became adverse to the interests of Mr. Anderson. (see Attachment Two; Investigative Report). Thus, an actual conflict is demonstrated in Petitioner's case. Therefore, Mr. Cheek actively pursued conflicting interests when he simultaneously represented Petitioner and Mr. Anderson during pretrial stages and plea hearing. (see Sawyer v. Drough, 358 F.2d 70.

"However, it is well settled that the Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel is breached where one lawyer is required to represent two defendants despite the defendants' conflicting interests." (Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 70; 62 S.Ct. 457, 465.).

The performance of Petitioner's counsel was rendered inadequate and thus constitutionally ineffective because of the adverse effect that the conflict of interest had on Mr. Cheek's performance. Mr. Cheek was hindered in what actions he could or could not take on behalf of Petitioner because of his loyalties being divided be-

tween two co-defendants with adverse interests. "As observed by the Supreme Court in Holloway, a conflict of interest has constitutionally detrimental effects before trial, just as during trial, "because of what it tends to prevent attorney from doing." ~~435~~ U.S. at 489-90, 98 S.Ct. at 1181.

Essentially, all Petitioner's counsel could do is advise Petitioner and Mr. Anderson to plead guilty in a futile effort to avoid a conflict that was already present. Mr. Cheek had not even released discovery material and case files to the Petitioner during pretrial stages. Petitioner, had to write to the Office of Disciplinary Counsel after he was convicted to have them compel Mr. Cheek to release case files and discovery material to him. (see Attachment Three; Petitioner's Compliant to Office of Disciplinary Counsel).

Mr. Cheek's testimony at the PCR hearing gives evidence that the conflict of interest hindered him from even advising Petitioner as to whether or not to accept the plea offer, let alone begin to prepare a trial defense. (see PCR Evidentiary Hearing Transcript at pg. 30; lines 22 - pg. 31; lines 1-3).

It is obvious that an attorney that could not even render advice to the Petitioner as to whether or not to accept the state's plea offer could certainly not take any other actions on behalf of Petitioner, because the conflict of interest obstructed his performance by limiting what he could or could not do.

MR. Cheek's testimony at the PCR Hearing made it apparent that he was aware of the statements that MR. ANDERSON had given to law enforcement; creating the conflict. (see PCR Hearing transcript at pg. 31; lines 9-12). However, when asked at the PCR hearing if he had talked to the Petitioner and MR. ANDERSON about him representing them both or having them sign a waiver to waive any conflict, he avoided the question with an evasive response. (see PCR Hearing Transcript at pg. 35; lines 6-13):

MR. Wildman : AND did you talk to them about -- about the fact that you were representing both of them or have them sign anything to that effect OR --

MR. Cheek : I told them if you don't want to accept the plea offer I'll ~~refer~~^{XP} refer your cases back to your trial attorneys, they will come and talk to you and prepare you for trial. There is no conflict at the end of a plea, especially in it together. No conflict.

It was evident from the testimony of the Petitioner and MR. Cheek that the Petitioner had not been aware of the fact that MR. Cheek had been representing he and MR. ANDERSON during pre-trial stages. Petitioner had not been made aware of this until the day of his pleading guilty. (see PCR Hearing Transcript at pg. 12; lines 2-10.). Therefore, he could not have waived any conflict in MR. Cheek's simultaneous representation because he was not aware of it. "A defendant cannot knowingly and in-

intelligently naive what he does not know." Hoffman v. Keeke, 903 F.2d 280, 289 (4th Cir. 1990).

At the PCR hearing, Mr. Cheek testified that his only function in his representation of Petitioner and Mr. Anderson was to convey to them the plea offer from the state. Mr. Cheek asserted that this was all he was doing and that that being his only function, any conflict was eliminated. However, if this was his only duty in representing the Petitioner then the Petitioner did not receive the reasonable and effective assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment affords him the right to.

The conflict of interest in Mr. Cheek's joint representation of Petitioner and Mr. Anderson is what made Mr. Cheek limit his representation to one function. He could not negotiate a plea favorable to one defendant without his efforts being detrimental to the other. He also could not begin to prepare a defense for one defendant without it being detrimental to the other because the Petitioner's interests were adversarial to that of Mr. Anderson who had implicated Petitioner in related offenses; presented himself as an unknowing accessory after the fact; alleged he had knowledge of a robbery that Petitioner had committed that he was uninvolved with; and would have testified against Petitioner at a trial as state's number one witness; in which counsel would not have been able to cross-examine because of his joint representation.

Thus, the conflict of interest adversely affected Mr. Cheek's performance and rendered his assistance ineffective. "Stated another way, the Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance free of conflicts of interest, and in the case of a single attorney representing multiple defendants, free from conflicting interests among each of the defendants." Hoffman v. Leeke, 903 F.2d 280, 285. This principal applies to retained counsel as well as to appointed counsel. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 344.

Mr. Cheek's testimony at the PCR Hearing was that he would have referred the Petitioner and Mr. Anderson back to trial attorneys had they decided to go to trial. Although, facts within the record are contrary to that assertion. Mr. Cheek could not refer Petitioner's case back to any attorney because no other attorney had spoken to Petitioner. Mr. Cheek is the only attorney who had contact with Petitioner. (see PCR Hearing Transcript at pg. 5, lines 14 - pg. 6; lines 1-6). In fact, Mr. Cheek's testimony at pg. 31; lines 1-8 of the PCR Hearing Transcript reflect that he would not have referred Petitioner to another attorney had he chosen to go to trial, but would have begun preparing for it himself.

Mr. Cheek asserted that his function was only to convey a guilty plea to Petitioner and Mr. Anderson. However, his testimony at plea hearing contradicts that assertion. (see Guilty Plea

Transcript at pg. 24 ; lines 7-9).

Thus, as stated in the foregoing the facts on their face and testimony of Petitioner and Mr. Cheek himself satisfied the burden of showing that there was an actual conflict. Whenever a defendant is able to demonstrate that his lawyer "actively pursued conflicting interests and that an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's performance", constitutional error has occurred, as prejudice is inherent in the conflict. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 692.

ARGUMENT THREE

The Petitioner argues that his counsel's joint representation of he and his co-defendant (Mr. Anderson) was in violation of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. Mr. Anderson gave implicating statements to law enforcement and actively assisted them in their investigation in regards to Petitioner's and Mr. Anderson's related offenses. Thus, he was a witness in Petitioner's case. The Confrontation Clause provides that a defendant in a criminal case has the right to be able to confront any of the accusers and/or witnesses in their case.

Petitioner was not able to confront Mr. Anderson and would not have been able to confront him through cross-examination at trial because of Mr. Cheek's joint representation of Petitioner and Mr. Anderson.

CONCLUSION

As set forth herein, the Petitioner has demonstrated that his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel and the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment were violated due to a conflict of interest that arose out of his counsel's representation of both Petitioner and his co-defendant. An affirmation of the PCR Court's decision would be merely a supplement to the PCR Court's failure to discern a Constitutional violation in Petitioner's case.

Accordingly, Petitioner's guilty pleas should be vacated and Petitioner granted a new trial.

s. / Xavier Z. Perry
Xavier H. PERRY
H.C.I. / Richland - C#123
990 Wisacky Hwy.
Bishopville, S.C. 29010

February 4th, 2015
Bishopville, South Carolina

Attachment One



Division of Appellate Defense
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201-3332
Post Office Box 11589
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1589
Telephone: (803) 734-1330
Facsimile: (803) 734-1397

Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender
Wanda H. Carter, Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

January 20, 2015

Mr. Xavier L. Perry, #346891
Lee Correctional Institution
990 Wisacky Hwy.
Bishopville, SC 29010