STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

JAN 29 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-000653

Xavier La-Lord Perry,..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,..... Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Did Petitioner fail to meet his burden of proof of establishing that an actual conflict of interest existed when Counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant at a joint plea?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted at the June 2011 term of the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for eight (8) counts of armed robbery (11-GS-42-2353, -2354, -3044, -3069, -3070, -3072, -3075, and -3076). He was represented by James A. Cheek, Esquire. On July 15, 2011, the Petitioner pled guilty to the charges as indicted. He was sentenced by the Honorable Roger L. Couch to confinement for concurrent terms of thirty (30) years for seven (7) counts of armed robbery, and a consecutive term of ten (10) years for the remaining armed robbery charge (11-2354). The Petitioner did not appeal his guilty plea or sentence.

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Application for Post-Conviction Relief filed May 18, 2012, and amended applications filed November 19, 2012, and June 4, 2013. The Respondent made its Return on or about March 26, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on October 1, 2013, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by W. Reid Wildman, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent.

At the hearing, the Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Petitioner's co-defendant Chadwick Anderson testified on Petitioner's behalf as well. James A. Cheek, Esquire, testified on behalf of the State. Following the hearing, the Honorable J. Derham Cole denied the PCR application by written Order dated February 20, 2014.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

- I. Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that an actual conflict of interest existed when Counsel represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant at a joint plea.**

On July 15, 2011, Petitioner pled guilty to committing eight armed robberies of various convenience stores during a period of several months from August 2010 through January 2011, along with his co-defendant, Chadwick Anderson. At the PCR hearing, Petitioner argued Counsel had an actual conflict of interest because he represented both Petitioner and his co-defendant jointly at their guilty pleas.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable

professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Petitioner testified that he was represented by Counsel at his guilty plea, but Petitioner was also appointed Robert Hall from the Spartanburg County Public Defender's office. (App. p. 119). However, Petitioner testified that he only met with Counsel and never with Mr. Hall. (App. p. 120). Petitioner testified that Counsel informed him of a plea offer for an open plea to all charges between 10-30 years at their first meeting in March 2011. (App. p. 120). Petitioner testified that at the time, he informed Counsel that he would consider pleading guilty if a more favorable offer could be procured. (App. p. 121). Petitioner testified that at the second meeting with Counsel, Counsel informed him that the Solicitor did not wish to negotiate any further. (App. p. 121). Petitioner testified that he informed Counsel of his desire to obtain private counsel at that time because of Counsel's failure to obtain a more favorable offer. (App. p. 121). However, Petitioner then testified that he meet with Counsel on the day of the plea with his co-defendant and was advised that if he pled guilty, he would receive no more than ten years, but if he did not plead guilty on that day, that his trial would proceed the following Wednesday. (App.

p. 122). Petitioner testified that he pled because he did not think that he would have time to obtain another attorney and prepare for trial in five days. (App. p. 122).

Petitioner testified that he was unaware that Counsel was representing both he and his co-defendant until they were both brought to the joint meeting on the day of the guilty plea, July 15, 2011. (App. p. 126). Petitioner speculates that perhaps the reason that Counsel could not obtain a more favorable plea offer for Petitioner was because Counsel also represented his co-defendant. (App. p. 127; 135). However, Petitioner acknowledged that he committed the armed robberies and did not deny the crimes even at the time of his arrest or his post-conviction relief hearing. (App. p. 133-4). Petitioner never offered any defense or additional mitigating evidence that Counsel failed to present to the plea court. Petitioner testified that he would not have pled guilty, but for Counsel advising him that he faced a life sentence. (App. p. 122-3).

Counsel testified as to the Spartanburg County Public Defender's office process for handling pleas through Counsel. Counsel testified that he does not try any cases, but simply takes plea offers made by the State to inmates in the Spartanburg County Detention Center. (App. p. 144). Counsel testified that his obligation is to convey the offer to a defendant, but allow the defendant to make their own decision as to whether or not they want to plead. (App. p. 145). Counsel testified that he met with Petitioner separately and with his co-defendant. (App. 140). Counsel testified that he informed the Petitioner that if he did not want to accept the plea offer on that day, then Counsel would notify his trial attorney to prepare for trial; however, Counsel testified that he did not inform Petitioner that the trial would take place the next week. (App. p. 148). Counsel testified that he informed Petitioner that the offer would remain open a little while longer, perhaps a week, and then Petitioner would have to begin preparing for trial.

(App. p. 149). Further, Counsel testified that Petitioner never mentioned hiring a private attorney to him. (App. p. 150).

Counsel also testified that there was no conflict and at the time of his representation of both Petitioner and Petitioner's co-defendant, neither one denied involvement or pointed the finger at the other party. (App. p. 143). In fact, Counsel testified that his impression all along was that Petitioner wanted to plead guilty, but just wanted to get the best offer he could get. (App. p. 147). Counsel testified that he cautioned both of the defendants that if they received a sentence of twenty years or less, they would be doing well. (App. p. 147). Counsel testified that he was never provided with any defenses, denials of involvement, or protestations of innocence from either defendant, but instead, was asked to seek the best offer he could obtain for each. (App. p. 145).

The mere possibility of a conflict of interest is insufficient to challenge a criminal conviction. Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 426 S.E.2d 793 (1993). "To establish a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel due to a conflict of interest arising from multiple representations, a defendant who did not object at trial must show an actual conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance." Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001) (citing Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 495 S.E.2d 768 (1998); Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984)). Respondent submits that Petitioner failed to present any evidence or testimony at the hearing to support his claims that the alleged conflict of interest affected Counsel's performance in representing Petitioner at his plea to eight counts of armed robbery.

The Fourth Circuit has addressed many issues related to conflict of interest and these cases are persuasive in this case. Although an attorney's overlapping representation of two

clients can affect representation when an actual conflict of interest is created, the mere fact that overlapping representation exists is insufficient to create a Sixth Amendment violation. United States v. Taft, 221 F. App'x 277, 279 (4th Cir. 2007) (holding that defendant's right to effective counsel was not violated when former trial counsel also represented a government witness for a short overlapping period).

Additionally, Counsel must rely on the information provided to him by his clients. "Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." Barnes v. Thompson, 58 F.3d 971, 979 (4th Cir. 1995) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-91, 104 S.Ct. at 2066). In Barnes, the court found that Counsel might rely on the truthfulness of his client and others he interviews when making strategic trial and defense decisions. Id. at 979-80. The United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit, found no deficient performance in Clanton v. Bair, when the client told his attorney about his good childhood, which led the attorney to not seek a psychiatric evaluation, but the client later changed his story. Clanton v. Bair, 826 F.2d 1354 (1987) (finding no deficiency when the attorney had no reason to doubt his client's truthfulness). Counsel relied on both Petitioner and his co-defendant's statements to Counsel regarding their desire to both plead guilty and accept responsibility for their crimes.

"[U]ntil a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for his claim of ineffective assistance." Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350, 100 S. Ct. 1708, 1719, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980). The PCR court found that Petitioner's testimony was completely not credible. (App. p. 167; 170). Further, the court found that the Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel operated under a conflict of interest at Petitioner's guilty plea. (App. p. 167). The Order noted

that there had been no testimony or evidence to support the argument that Counsel's performance was adversely affected by a conflict of interest. (App. p. 168).

Petitioner was pleading guilty to eight armed robberies, while his co-defendant was present to plead to six armed robberies and two charges of accessory after the fact of a felony. (App. p. 11). The plea colloquy reflects that Petitioner stated that Counsel reviewed the charges and potential sentences with him. (App. p. 13-16). Petitioner acknowledged that he was represented by Counsel and was satisfied with Counsel's representation. (App. p. 19-20). Further, Petitioner informed the court that there was nothing additional that he needed to discuss with Counsel and nothing he felt Counsel needed to do for him at the time. (App. p. 20). Co-defendant Anderson made the same attestations. (App. p. 20). Petitioner also informed the court that Counsel had reviewed information with him and that Petitioner was satisfied with the advice he had received from Counsel. (App. p. 24). Finally, Petitioner agreed with the facts as they were presented to the court by the State. (App. p. 31).

Petitioner offered no evidence or testimony to show that Counsel had an actual conflict of interest or that the "actual conflict of interest adversely affected [his] performance." Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 143, 551 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001).

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.